TIMOTHY A. LAWRENCE v. SILVER BAY LOGGING

[image: image1.png]


ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD


P.O. Box 115512


Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512
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                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant

                                                   v. 
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200613055
AWCB Decision No.  09-0139
Filed with AWCB Juneau, Alaska

on August 10, 2009


We held a second, continued hearing on the employee's August 10, 2007 claim for medical benefits in Juneau, Alaska on July 14, 2009.  The employee represented himself.  The employer and its insurer (“employer”) were represented by Patricia Zobel, Delisio, Moran, Geraghty & Zobel, PC, of Anchorage.  We proceeded as a panel of two under AS 23.30.005(f).
  We closed the record at the conclusion of the hearing.  

ISSUE
Has the employee shown entitlement to medical benefits under AS 23.30.010?
CASE HISTORY AND SUMMARY OF THE RELEVANT EVIDENCE

We incorporate by reference the Case History and Summary of Relevant Evidence from our earlier decision and order no. 08-0052 (issued March 21, 2008), as if set forth in full here.  However, we summarize anew the record, after review of the complete record, setting forth additional relevant facts based on the augmented record, including testimony received at the July 14, 2009 continued hearing:

A.  Medical History after Augmentation with Additional Medical Records

In our earlier decision and order, we found the medical record incomplete, and ordered the parties to submit additional medical records.  The record has now been augmented to include copies of more extensive records of the employee’s bilateral knee surgeries in 1974,
 left inguinal hernia repair after moving a piano in 1976,
 dental treatment in 2002, 2004, and 2005;
 and chart notes of evaluation and treatment by Dr. Prysunka in 2005 for hypertension and irregular pulse.

The 1974 and 1976 medical records show no evidence of blood transfusion, transfer of other blood products, or transfer of blood-containing bone or tissues to the employee.
  The augmented record contains no report of blood tests for liver enzyme concentrations or other indicators of liver function, for any blood samples collected prior to November 9, 2006.
  

It has been undisputed that the hernia condition diagnosed on August 18, 2006 was work related.  The augmented medical records show that the employee was first diagnosed at the Wrangell Medical Center, with medical evacuation by air from Wrangell on August 18, 2006 to Ketchikan General Hospital.  An IV line was established in Wrangell, and 12.5 mg. of Demerol was administered via this IV in Wrangell.
  It does not appear any IV medications were administered during the Guardian med-evac flight, although one aspect of the transport plan was to “maintain IV site.”
  A blood sample was drawn from the employee at the Wrangell Medical Center, and tested for Basic Metabolic Panel and Complete Blood Count (CBC), but there is no evidence of testing this blood sample for liver enzyme concentrations.
    

The employee was admitted to the Ketchikan General Hospital (KGH) on August 18, 2006 at 2:25 pm.
  At 4:55 pm on August 18, surgeon Dr. Crochelt completed a history and physical that noted that laboratory data was “pending.”
  The employee was discharged from the emergency department of KGH with a follow-up surgical repair for the following Monday, August 21, 2006, on an outpatient basis.
  Results of tests of blood samples were reported by the Wrangell Medical Center at 10:42 on August 18, 2006.
  The employee underwent ventral hernia repair on August 21, 2006,
 and was discharged “to home” from KGH at 2:30 p.m. on that date.
  The record contains no reports of analysis of blood by personnel at KGH during the admissions on August 18 or 21, 2006.  

Documents identify the anesthesiologist as E. Youngstrom, MD, the surgeon as
Dr. Crochelt, with assistant R. Wolf, RNFA, and the supervising operating room nurse as
T. Stall, RN.
  In the Perioperative Nursing Data Set, Nurse Stall verified that standards for potential for infection were “met.”
  Surgeon Dr. Crochelt’s Operative Report noted no discrepancies in sterile procedure.
  Follow-up interview with the employee’s wife three days post-surgery noted “very happy /c [with] care.  Husband (pt.) doing great.  ( c/o [no complaints].”

After the employee returned to Wrangell, exam by Dr. Prysunka on September 7, 2006 reported the employee healing well, with the additional notation “every once in a while, he feels nauseated and gets sweaty” with “heartburn and dyspepsia after eating.”  The employee was restricted to a maximum lifting of 10 lbs.  CBC blood test from September 7, 2006 was reported as normal to the employee.

On exam by Dr. Prysunka on October 5, 2006, the employee was noted to have a temperature of 99.2º F., and a well-healing surgical scar, but otherwise it was an unremarkable exam.  With the risk for re-injury of the hernia, Dr. Prysunka limited the employee to three weeks of light duty work., with a 30 lb. lifting restriction.
  A chart notation from October 10, 2006 suggested another blood sample had been taken, or perhaps earlier blood samples had been analyzed, with the notation: “Lab work is significant for some electrolyte abnormalities that are relatively mild and suggest dehydration, elevated liver functions and ALT
 and AST
 but not Alk phos[phatase]
.”

Exam by Dr. Prysunka on October 26, 2006 was unremarkable, Dr. Prysunka noting “he has been back to work at full duties now for about 3 weeks doing full lifting.”  Dr. Prysunka released the employee to full duty without restrictions.  Temperature at that time was
97.7º F.

On November 9, 2006, with a temperature noted to be 99º F., the employee was examined by David O. McCandless, MD, on report of vomiting for 12-24 hours, with some pain at or near the surgical site.  He reported motion detected at the hernia surgical site when palpating while standing or straining,   Dr. McCandless reported results of blood tests, from samples taken that day, showing

[a] CBC shows normal white count of 4.7 and a good H&H at 14 at 42.  There are some minor changes in the differential that are non specific.  Electrolytes show slightly depressed sodium and chloride, BUN/creatinine ratio is 10, potassium is good at 4.2.  He has elevated AST and ELT [sic: ALT] at one to two times normal limits but other liver functions are normal including Alk phos. Amylase was normal at 81. 

Dr. McCandless formed the impression of nausea and vomiting with possible small recurrence of the hernia.  The employee was given Compazine intramuscularly, ranitidine HCl and directed to drink Gatorade on a progressive rehydrating regimen, with release from work for 4 days.
  Laboratory test results showed AST of 62 IU/L, and ALT of 79 IU/L, with amylase at 81 IU/L, within the normal range of 25-115 IU/L.

The employee’s early November 2006 bout of nausea and vomiting improved, on examination by Margaret A. Torreano, MD on November 13, 2006.  The employee was noted to be “feeling much better now, getting fluids, no further vomiting and no changes in his bowels.”  Dr. Torreano palpated bulging at the umbilicus and tenderness on standing and coughing, and referred the employee back to surgeon Dr. Crochelt, restricting the employee to 10 lbs. lifting at work until Dr. Crochelt could examine the employee.

The employee was next seen by Dr. Crochelt’s partner Deborah Aaron, MD, who on November 15, 2006 noted the history of development of a “flu-like illness with nausea and vomiting and intermittent diarrhea.  It is unclear whether his vomiting started before or after the abdominal pain.”  A CBC blood test showed values within normal limits.
  Dr. Aaron palpated a “possible defect” but “frankly I was not completely convinced that this represented a new hernia defect.”  Dr. Aaron ordered a CT scan,
 which revealed that “there may be a very tiny hernia containing fat measuring 1.5 cm,” without ascites, and other organs (including liver) appearing normal.
  Dr. Aaron diagnosed a recurrence of the hernia, noting “a high reoccurrence rate” for the type of hernia the employee experienced.
 

Dr. Aaron operated on the employee the next day, November 16, 2006, installing a Gore-tex mesh in the hernia site, with a post-operative diagnosis of incarcerated recurrent umbilical hernia.
  KGH records identify the supervising nurse as Polly Swick, RN, Dr. Aaron as the surgeon, Kimm Schwartz, RNFA as surgical assitant, Robert Ford MD, as anesthesiologist, and Margie Thynes as anesthesiologist assistant.
  Nurse Swick verified that standards for potential for infection were “met.”
  There was no notation by Dr. Aaron of lapse of sterile technique during this operation.
  

On December 1, 2006, the employee was released from working for 2-4 weeks, pending release to work by surgeon Dr. Aaron.
  Dr. Torreano noted at that time that the employee was doing well, eating, pain-free, and temperature of 98.3º F.

Three days later, on December 4, 2006, the employee returned to the TideLine Clinic with report of mouth discomfort.  On examination Dr. Torreano identified possible aphthous ulcers versus lichen planus.  The employee was prescribed Kenalog and Orabase.   Temperature at that time was 98.3º F.
  On December 5, 2006, the employee consulted his dentist, who noted that the employee reported using Listerine mouthwash for rinsing, and diagnosed that “herpetic ulcers are the source of the current complaint.”  Temperature was noted to be 98.6º F. at that time, without report of nausea and vomiting.  The dentist recommended discontinuation of Listerine, and continuation of Dr. Torreano’s prescription.

On December 7, 2006, the employee reported worsening of mouth sores, with fever, chills, and vomiting for 4 days.
  On December 8, 2006, the employee was seen by Dr. Torreano again reporting a three- to four-day history of nausea, vomiting, aches, and fever.  Test of blood taken on December 7 and 8, 2006 showed elevated ALT and AST, as well as alkaline phosphatase.  The employee had a temperature of 101.5º F. at that time.  Dr. Torreano diagnosed possible viral infection with normal white count, or “early hepatitis with somewhat elevation mildly of his liver enzymes.”  Dr. Torreano admitted the employee to the Wrangell Medical Center and started him on IV fluids.
 

During the December 2006 admission, ultrasound of the liver was negative, with normal extrahepatic duct diameter reported.
  A series of tests for Hepatitis A, B, C and lipase were ordered on December 7, 2006, blood samples were taken on December 8, and test results were obtained and verified on December 9 and 10, 2006,
 with positive test results for Hepatitis C.
  This was later confirmed as Genotype 1a,
 with “RNA PCR quantitative at 180,000 and 5.26 log IU/mL.”

While in the Wrangell hospital, the employee responded well to hydration therapy, the fever, nausea and vomiting subsided, and he was discharged on December 11, 2006 with diagnoses of: (1) fever, nausea and vomiting, “etiology unclear”; (2) elevated liver enzymes secondary to Hepatitis C; (3) headaches, possible cluster; (4) dehydration improving, and
(5) hypertension, with referral to internist Dr. Anthes for follow-up.
  It was theorized that the employee had received blood transfusions during his knees surgeries in 1974 as the most likely etiology for contraction of HCV.

On December 14, 2006, the employee was continued in release from work pending follow-up exam by surgeon Dr. Aaron.
  Dr. Aaron examined the employee on January 11, 2007 and released him back to work without restrictions on that date.

On February 2, 2007, a liver biopsy was attempted at Ketchikan General Hospital, but the sample obtained was non-diagnostic fat tissue.
  Dr. Anthes described three alternative treatments at that point:

1. to do nothing and no treatment, which I don’t recommend

2. a repeat attempt at a liver biopsy, which I lean toward

3. treatment without a liver biopsy for hepatitis C without the results of a liver biopsy, which would work
 

On the medical record that included the report of blood transfusions during knee surgeries in 1974, but without the actual records of those procedures, Frances X. Riedo, MD performed an employer-sponsored medical evaluation.  Dr. Riedo opined that neither the December 2006 hospitalization with fever, nausea and vomiting, nor the Hepatitis C condition, were work-related.  Dr. Riedo could identify no risk factors for contraction of Hepatitis C during the employee’s hospitalizations at Ketchikan General Hospital for the August 21 and November 17, 2006 hernia operations, and concluded that the most likely risk factor was the reported blood transfusions in the 1970s during knee procedures.

Following the board panel’s order
 under AS 23.30.110(g) for a Second Independent Medical Examination (SIME) on the augmented medical record, Paul Steer, MD, FACP, a specialist in infectious diseases and internal medicine in Anchorage, opined that “[i]t is unlikely that [the HCV infection] was acquired or occurred during treatment on August 18 or November 17, 2006” and that “[m]ost likely he had hepatitis C existing prior to his August 18, 2006, employment injury.”  Informed of lack of evidence of blood transfusion in the 1970s, Dr. Steer noted “absolutely nothing in his history to suggest an increased specific risk factor for acquiring hepatitis C,” with no identification of exposure to another person with HCV, no evidence of transfusion or indication of break in disinfection or sterile technique during the August 21, 2006 procedure, denial of IV drug use, denial of risk-inducing sexual activity, no extensive travel to an underdeveloped country, and no clinical diagnosis of jaundice.  Dr. Steer noted that the first tests for liver enzymes in blood occurred on November 9, 2006.  Dr. Steer concluded, “one could say the likelihood of his acquiring hepatitis C was probably equal to any date – i.e., specific date one might pick from birth to 3 months prior to the first abnormal liver function test – without any clue by history as to preference to any one date more likely than another.”  Dr. Steer noted the employee needs a diagnostic liver biopsy to meet treatment criteria, but that a liver biopsy would not help estimate the duration of HCV infection, stating that there is “no test that I am aware of that will help us understand when he acquired the HCV infection.”  Dr. Steer noted that 20-30% of HCV cases involve occult, unknown exposure.

On review of the supplemented record, including the additional medical records of treatment in the 1970s which showed no evidence of blood transfusion, Dr. Riedo noted that the evidence of abnormal liver function preceded the November 2006 procedure, suggesting that infection “would have had to occur during his initial surgery on August 21, 2006” if the theory of HCV infection in fact occurred at Ketchikan General Hospital.  However, on review of additional medical records relating to the August 21, 2006 hernia repair, Dr. Riedo concluded that scenario was “fairly implausible” to involve use of instruments that were not disinfected, not properly sterilized, and used first on an HCV-positive patient, and then the employee.  Dr. Riedo opined that Mr. Lawrence falls into the large percentage of HCV cases of occult, unknown infection.

Prior to hearing, the employer submitted copies of KGH protocols for surgical hand scrub procedure, aseptic barrier materials for surgical gowns and drapes, perioperative surgical skin preparation for patients,  practice of basic aseptic technique during surgery, standards for nursing practice in the operating room, and responsibilities in infection control.

At hearing, without objection from the employer, a test result showing negative results of HCV testing for the employee’s spouse, Lavern Lawrence, was admitted as Employee’s Exhibit 1. 

B. Procedural History
We re-print the summary of procedural history from our prior decision and order, with insertion of additional history in brackets [ ]:

The employee filed a Workers’ Compensation Claim (“Claim”) on
August 10, 2007, seeking only unspecified medical benefits,
 and a request for a conference.
  The employer through its insurance adjuster Ms. Dean controverted
 and filed an Answer, admitting compensability of the industrial injury of August 18, 2006, but denying compensability of medical billings for services delivered from December 7 to December 11, 2006 and December 22, 2006 as being unrelated to the industrial injury, citing medical records (quoted above) for the proposition that the hepatitis C infection was “related to a blood transfusion received during a knee surgery in the 70’s.”

* * *

The employee filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing (“ARH”) on December 10, 2007.  In preparation for the hearing, the board panel’s designated chair [suggested that the panel might hold the record open for additional medical evidence to be submitted].

In response to the board designee’s letter, the employee filed the cited records from the Sarasota, Florida hospital, and the employer filed additional medical records relating to services after August 18, 2006, including records showing that the January 2006 attempted liver biopsy was inconclusive. [Despite these additional filings, the board panel still found the record incomplete, ordered augmentation of the medical record, and a Second Independent Medical Examination.  Paul Steer, MD, FACP of Anchorage, of the board’s SIME panel, agreed to perform the SIME.
]

Following the augmentation of the medical record, and completion of the SIME, the matter was re-noticed for an additional hearing on July 14, 2009.

C. Evidence and argument at hearing:

[At the February 13, 2008 hearing, t]he employee [Timothy Lawrence] and his wife Laverne J. Lawrence testified for the employee.  The employee denied IV drug use, tattoos, or contact with anyone who might have transmitted HCV to him.  Mr. Lawrence testified that when he discussed the knee surgeries of his youth with his doctors, he was uncertain whether he had a blood transfusion, but the doctors seemed ready to attribute the infection to that early procedure.  Mr. Lawrence testified that, now that he has received the three Sarasota Memorial Hospital documents, which do not mention any transfusion, he believes he did not have a transfusion during his knee operations in the 1970s, or at any other time.  Mr. Lawrence was not asked about body piercings or whether he had been incarcerated at any time, nor whether his mother had ever been tested or diagnosed with HCV.  Mr. Lawrence testified that his wife Ms. Lawrence tested negative for HCV after he was diagnosed.  Mr. Lawrence denied any other health problems, other than hypertension, prior to his hospitalization in 2006 for the hernia repair surgeries.  He testified that he could not afford to obtain more extensive records from the Sarasota Memorial Hospital, because the records cost $1 per page.  Mr. Lawrence argued that the employer should pay for the hospital bills incurred due to the December 2006 hospitalization and thereafter, $7,418 of which has been covered by private health insurance, and $1,465 of which has not been covered due to employee co-payments.  Mr. Lawrence testified that he believes he contracted HCV during the hospitalizations for the hernia condition.  The employee testified that he doubted whether any doctor would draw a conclusion that the HCV was acquired during the hernia hospitalizations, however, expressing the belief that doctors would hide a hospital-based infection.  The employee testified that he cannot afford the interferon/ribavirin treatment, which he has been told will cost approximately $1,000 per month.  At present, the employee testified he is taking only herbal remedies for the viral infection.

During Ms. Lawrence’s testimony, no one asked her to either affirm or refute her husband’s testimony about her testing negative for HCV.  Ms. Lawrence testified the employee was healthy prior to the August 2006 hernia, and that for renewal of his prescription for Atenolol to control hypertension, annual liver function screens were performed for two or three years prior to 2006 showing healthy liver function, and that the employee’s medical records from the TideLine Clinic from 2003-06 should show this.

The employer offered no witnesses in support of its case, choosing to rely upon the current record before the board to support the conclusions of
Dr. Rieto that work-connectedness had not been shown, and argued the board should deny the employee’s claim, including the opinions expressed in Dr. Anthes’ and Dr. Torreano’s chart notes that the employee underwent a blood transfusion in the 1970s, which was therefore the most likely source of HCV infection.

At hearing the board inquired of the parties as to their position on whether the board should continue to hold the record open in the case.  Both parties wavered in their position at the hearing, the employer initially stating that it did not oppose holding the record open, but ultimately taking the position the board should rule on the present record.  Mr. Lawrence also wavered, but based primarily on the view that he could not afford to obtain more medical records, and that no doctor would express an opinion supporting his case, he too agreed the board should make a determination based on the present record.  He concluded, “Stick a fork in me; I’m done.”

At the July 14, 2009 hearing, the employer called  as a witness the surgeon who performed the August 16, 2006 first repair of the umbilical hernia, Robert F. Crochelt, MD, who testified telephonically  Dr. Crochelt testified that he recalled no blood transfusions, no complications during the procedure, and no deviation from standard sterile technique during the procedure.  Dr. Crochelt testified that if an instrument tray had not displayed the characteristically blackened, temperature sensitive tape (showing successful sterilization by autoclave), the tray would not have been used.  He also testified that any needle sticks or nicks by instruments would have been reported by incident report.  Dr. Crochelt confirmed that he himself had tested negative for Hepatitis C in 2000, and had twice donated blood since 2007 without being informed of evidence of Hepatitis C infection, which Dr. Crochelt testified is standard protocol on donating blood.  Dr. Crochelt ruled out, on a more probable than not basis, infection of the employee with Hepatitis C during the August 16, 2006 procedure.  On cross-examination, Dr. Crochelt did not recall whether any prior patient treated on August 16, 2006 was HCV positive, but that “universal precautions” in an operating room is to treat every patient as infected, and to decontaminate all surfaces between patients, as well as use of disposable, sterile drapes, and either sterilized or sterile, disposable sharps and tools.  Dr. Crochelt testified that he did not personally supervise this preparation of the operating room theater between patients, but this task was supervised by an operating room nurse.

Frances Rice Lawrence, the employee’s mother, testified that to her knowledge the employee had no known diseases prior to his hospitalizations for the hernia procedures in 2006; that the employee had no tattoos, no time in any jail, and that the employee’s father is diabetic.  Mrs. Lawrence testified that she recalled no discussion of Hepatitis C regarding her son until December 2006.

Lavern J. Lawrence again testified that in all the years she has known her husband, she has never seen the employee as sick as in December 2006.  Ms. Lawrence testified that she was tested for Hepatitis C on December 26, 2006, with negative results.  Ms. Lawrence testified that she and the employee have had regular sexual relations during their marriage.

Kendall Sawa, RN testified telephonically as the vice president for patient care administration at KGH.  In 2006, he was director of acute care services.  Beside his registered nursing licensure, Mr. Sawa has a bachelor’s degree in Health Care Administration.  He authenticated the KGH policies, procedures and protocols.  Mr. Sawa testified to the normal protocols for sterilization of reusable instruments: decontamination using an enzymatic solution, ultrasonic decontamination, manual scrub, and then steam sterilization in an autoclave, with wrapping of the instrument tray with a temperature-sensitive tape both inside the tray and outside it, that turns black when the target sterilizing temperature is reached for the requisite duration.  Mr. Sawa opined that the likelihood of infection with  these protocols being followed is “very unlikely, improbable.”  Mr. Sawa described the cleaning procedures of the operating room theater between patients, including: accounting for instruments and supplies; surface cleansing with detergent; and scrub process/gowning/gloving/eye protection/masking of personnel.  Mr. Sawa testified that needles and syringes are not re-used, all are single-use, disposed in a sharps container.  Mr. Sawa testified that a needle stick is a reportable event, the glove is removed, and the wound is irrigated; he described that with needle sticks, any blood of the health care worker is usually contained by capillary action within the sterile glove.  Mr. Sawa testified there were no incident reports of needle sticks or nicks occurring during the employee’s surgeries at KGH.  Mr. Sawa testified that universal health care protocols assume that each patient is infected, in order to prevent cross-infection.  Mr. Sawa opined that the employee’s contraction of HCV at KGH was neither probable nor reasonable.

Frank Riedo, MD testified that he is a licensed medical doctor who is board certified in infectious diseases, with past work for the U.S. Center for Disease Control.  Dr. Riedo testified that he sits on or is chairman of the contamination control committees at the hospitals at which he has admitting privileges.  Dr. Riedo, who listened to Mr. Sawa’s testimony, testified that the national standard practice in operating room theaters is to use sterile surgical instrument packs, with an enormous amount of one-use-only, disposable instruments and supplies.  Dr. Riedo testified that there is no distinction drawn between patients, that each patient is assumed to be infectious, and sterile technique and protocols are practiced with and between patients.

Dr. Riedo testified that Hepatitis C is a blood-borne pathogen transmitted most frequently by: sharing contaminated needles, sexual relations with an HCV carrier, body piercings, tattoos, and prisons (in part due to the common, unsterile use of equipment for prison tattoos).  Dr. Riedo testified that Hepatitis C is not always symptomatic in those who carry the virus and are infectious.  He cited a study of Air Force personnel with blood drawn in the 1950s, then stored until surveyed in 2000: 17 persons were identified as HCV-positive, all alive, only one with HCV-related liver problems, most being asymptomatic.  Dr. Riedo testified that this study, among others, demonstrated the way that an HCV-positive person may have decades of asymptomatic infection, until a series of unknown triggers causes a symptomatic outbreak.   

Dr. Riedo testified that the test results show that the employee has an “active viral load,” that he is now a “chronic carrier,” and that successful liver biopsy would help determine whether the employee meets protocols for HCV treatment.  Dr. Riedo testified that genotypes 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 are all successfully treatable, and that 40% of those with Genotype 1 are treatable.

Dr. Riedo testified that, with the elevated liver enzymes detected before the November 16, 2006 procedure, in his opinion that second hernia procedure performed by Dr. Aaron may be eliminated as a source of infection.  Based on the evidence, including lack of incident reports of any needle sticks, scalpel nicks, Dr. Crochelt’s lack of HCV infection, nor any other identified breach in aseptic protocols, Dr. Riedo testified that he agreed with Dr. Steer’s report, that neither the hospitalization nor treatment at KGH was likely the cause of the employee’s HCV infection.

The employee argued, in summation, that insurance companies exist to provide coverage for human error, and the board panel should infer from the timing of the detection of HCV infection that it occurred as a result of his hospitalizations at KGH.  The employee encouraged the board panel to “take the opinions and theories, and see how they add up,” that the unexplained percentage of HCV infections is “too convenient” for the board panel to give the opinions of Dr. Riedo and Dr. Steer credence.

The employer, through Ms. Zobel, argued orally as well as in the employer’s pre-hearing brief that the Alaska Supreme Court case of Delaney v. Alaska Airlines
 controls and requires medical evidence to establish the preliminary link and trigger the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a)(1), noting that case involved a similar, chronic condition of Crohn’s Disease.  The employer argued that no medical evidence established that preliminary link, and even if the board panel found that such a preliminary link had been established, that the opinions of Dr. Riedo and Dr. Steer rebutted the presumption, and at the third stage of the compensability analysis, the preponderance of the evidence showed the employee’s need for treatment for Hepatitis C was not work-related.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. PRESUMPTION OF COMPENSABILITY

AS 23.30.120 provides, in part, that

(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter

The Alaska Supreme Court has held that "the text of AS 23.30.120(a) (1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  Therefore, an injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits sought are compensable.
 

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between employment and the need for treatment or disability.  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between employment and the disability or need for medical treatment
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.

“Before the presumption attaches, some preliminary link must be established between the disability and the employment….”
  “The purpose of the preliminary link requirement is to ‘rule out cases in which [the] claimant can show neither that the injury occurred in the course of employment nor that it arose out of [it].”
  In making the preliminary link determination, the Board may not concern itself with the witnesses’ credibility.”

Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer’s burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury is not work related.
  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence the injury was not work-related.
  There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: 


(1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or 



(2)  directly eliminates any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.

“Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  “It has always been possible to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”
  If medical experts rule out work-related causes for the injury or need for treatment, then an alternative explanation is not required.
  The board panel must look at the employer’s evidence in isolation, without regard to any evidence presented by the employee.
  Therefore, the board panel defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer’s evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee’s injury entitles him to compensation benefits.
  

If the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, bringing us to the third step of the presumption analysis, which provides that the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must “induce a belief” in the minds of the board panelists that the asserted facts are probably true.

The Alaska Supreme Court has long held the presumption of compensability applies to claims for medical benefits.
  Therefore, we will apply this analysis to the employee’s claim for future medical benefits.

II. FUTURE MEDICAL BENEFITS

AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance of treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. However, if the condition requiring treatment, apparatus, or medicine is a latent one, the two-year period runs from the time the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee's disability and its relationship to the employment and after disablement.  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board. The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. When medical care is required, the injured employee may designate a licensed physician to provide all medical and related benefits.

Under the Act, an injured worker is entitled to medical treatment “which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee.”
  “If continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.”
  The presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) applies to claims for medical benefits, including continuing care.
  In complex medical cases, medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link between the work injury and the ongoing disabilities.

We re-iterate our observations from our earlier decision and order in this case, that:

the board before has faced the difficult medico-legal issue of determining whether exposure to the hepatitis C virus is compensable either as a work-related condition,
 or as a complication of medical treatment for a work-related condition.
  We find . . . that hepatitis C is a serious blood-borne viral infection that poses substantial risk to the health of an infected individual’s liver, with risk of indication for liver transplant, death from liver cirrhosis, or hepatocellular carcinoma.   The board finds that hepatitis C may be detected in blood screening within one to three weeks of exposure or sooner, but may have a latency during which the infected individual may be asymptomatic for decades, with identified potential pathways for infection that include:

· mother-to-child transmission at birth

· transfusion  via blood or blood products,
 or transplantation of blood-containing tissue or bone,
 prior to development of commercial tests to screen out products containing HCV

· tattooing or body piercing using re-used devices

· intranasal cocaine use

· IV drug use involving shared needles, syringes or other devices contacted with blood

· medical provider recycling or reuse of needles, syringes, medicine vials, or other blood-exposed devices or containers that have been inadequately sterilized

· transmission from an infected individual during sexual relations, usually associated with tissue compromise due to sores from a co-existent sexually-transmitted disease (STD) such as herpes

· Close living contact with an HCV-infected individual, sharing devices exposed to blood such as razors and toothbrushes

In this case, abnormal blood levels of liver enzymes were first detected after the first hernia repair procedure, that was performed on August 18, 2006.  These levels are summarized in the SIME Medical Record, and are reproduced in the following table:

	
	8/18/06
	11/9/06
	12/7/06
	12/8/06
	12/9/06
	1/25/07
	Reference Range

	AST (SGOT)
	No data
	62 H
	47 H
	43 H
	45 H
	49 H
	<15.0-37.0> IU/L

	ALT (SGPT)
	No data
	79 H
	79 H
	67 H
	69 H
	93 H
	<30.0-65.0> IU/L

	Alkaline phosphatase
	No data
	91
	96
	86
	91
	94
	<38.0-126.0> IU/L


One might conclude, without more, that these data coupled with other evidence in the record (that HCV infection and outbreak leads to increased body temperature and elevated levels of AST and ALT in blood),
 constitutes “medical evidence” sufficient to establish the preliminary causal link.

However, to fulfill what we believe is the directive by the Alaska Supreme Court in Delaney, the panel must inform itself about the medical condition that is asserted to be work-related.  In this case, the medical record (including Dr. Riedo’s testimony about the Air Force study) as well as reliable public sources of information about HCV, confirm that HCV infection can remain asymptomatic and go undetected for decades after infection.    Therefore, we find that the data of elevated body temperatures, AST and ALT, first detected after the August 18, 2006 hernia repair, is insufficient  to raise the presumption of compensability.  In addition, we find that no medical doctor has expressed an opinion that the employee’s HCV infection occurred during the 2006 hospitalizations or other treatment for the workplace-caused hernia condition.  We conclude, in agreement with the employer’s argument, that Delaney requires “medical evidence” to establish the preliminary link, and that the liver enzyme test data cited above, by itself, is insufficient “medical evidence” to establish the preliminary link of work-related causation.  Under Delaney, we find the employee has not established the preliminary link of compensability, and deny his claim on that basis.

Even assuming that we have erred in our assessment of the evidence at the first stage of the compensability analysis, we find that EIME Dr. Riedo and SIME Dr. Steer opined that there is no evidence supporting the conclusion that the employee contracted HCV during treatments for the hernia condition in Ketchikan in 2006.  We find that a reasonable person would rely upon these two opinions, and therefore there is substantial evidence refuting compensability.

And so, at the third stage of the compensability analysis, the presumption of compensability falls away, and the employee must demonstrate his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  We find the preponderance of the evidence supports the employer’s case.  Unlike in the Denner case, in which several physicians opined that that employee’s infection was caused by workplace exposure, there is no medical opinion linking the employee’s HCV infection with the hernia procedures.  
No medical opinion counterbalances  opinions of Drs. Riedo and Steer.  We find that the theory of HCV infection due to breach in sterile protocol at a KGH is refuted by the at least equal likelihood, on the present evidence, of breach in sterile protocol at another facility, including the Wrangell Medical Center (where the employee first received treatment in 2006), the employee’s dentists’ office, or at the facilities where he was treated in Sarasota in the 1970s.  This is another way of saying we find that there is simply no direct evidence of the infection of the employee with HCV at any medical facility.  If it is preposterous for the board to find that the HCV must have been contracted in Wrangell or Sarasota, it is equally preposterous for the board to find that the HCV was contracted in Ketchikan, on the present record.  The employee’s, Lavern Lawrence’s, and Frances Lawrence’s testimony of “no significant illness” prior to December 2007, although we find each was credible, simply is not probative, given the demonstrated latency of occult HCV infection.  In a similar vein, we find the evidence that Lavern Lawrence tested HCV-negative,
 after the employee was determined to be HCV-positive, simply is not probative on when and where the employee became infected.  Ms. Lawrence test only verifies that she was not the source of infection.  

Lavern Lawrence testified at the first hearing that liver function tests were regularly taken, after the employee was started on blood pressure medication Atenolol.  After keeping the record open to permit the complete records to be filed with the board, we find that the employee began Atenolol therapy on or about August 4, 2005,
 not earlier as suggested by Ms. Lawrence.  We found little evidence of testing for ALT, AST, alkaline phosphatase, or other indicators of liver health, or any other direct tests of liver function prior to November 9, 2006.
  We found no evidence supporting Ms. Lawrence’s testimony that the employee’s liver function was documented to have been healthy prior to the August 21, 2006 hernia surgery.  We find, instead, no baseline from which to infer that the test results after November 9, 2006 demonstrate a decline. 

For these reasons, we reject the employee’s claim for benefits relating to treatment for Hepatitis C.

ORDER

The employee’s August 10, 2007 claim for medical benefits is denied and dismissed.

Dated at Juneau, Alaska this 10th day of August, 2009.





     ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



___________________________________



Robert B. Briggs, Designated Chairman



___________________________________



Richard Behrends, Member

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.
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I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of TIMOTHY A. LAWRENCE employee / applicant; v. SILVER BAY LOGGING, employer; ALASKA TIMBER INSURANCE EXCHANGE, insurer / defendants; Case No. 200613055; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Juneau, Alaska, this ____ day of August, 2009.
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John Childers, 
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� Board panelist Michael Notar was unavailable for the July 14, 2009 hearing.


� See, e.g., SIME Medical Records Binder, entitled “Medical Records of Timothy Lawrence”, at pages 1 through 32 inclusive (filed 4/16/09). The employee certified that this medical records binder was “complete,” 4/16/09 T. Lawrence to WCO L. Gillespie (filed 4/20/09).  Unless context otherwise requires reference to another medical summary, all future references to medical records in this decision and order shall be to this “SIME Medical Records Binder,” at the specified page.  See also 4/14/09 Medical Records Summary (filed 4/16/09), attachment at pages 1-32.


� 6/1/09 Medical Records Summary (filed 6/2/09).


� 10/25/02; 7/30/04; 7/26/05 [Unidentified dental provider], Dental Treatment notes, filed in SIME Medical Records Binder pages 33-34.


� 8/4/05; 9/2/05; 9/11/05 L. Prysunka, MD, Chart notes, SIME Medical Records Binder pages 35-40.  Additionally, chart notes for Dr. Prysunka’s work-up and treatment for left heel pain and a finger laceration in 2007 and 2008, unrelated to the present claim for medical benefits related to the Hepatitis C treatment, was also provided.  SIME Medical Records at pages 172-78; 187-90.  


� See generally documents cited at Footnotes 1 and 2.


� See generally documents cited at Footnote 3.  TideLine Clinic reports of historic lab test results are also collected at SIME Medical Records pages 194-210.


� 8/18/06 L. Prysunka, MD, Emergency Dept. Record, Wrangell Med. Center, and 8/18/06 G. Johnson, RN, Wrangell Gen. Hospital Transfer Form filed in SIME Medical Records Binder, at pages 42, 50 and 54.


� 8/18/06 Guardian Flight Run Form, filed in SIME Medical Records Binder, pages 45-46, 48, 49 (noting only supplies used as 4 EKG electrodes).


� See generally laboratory test results from 2005 forward


� 8/18/06 [signature of provider unidentifiable], RN, Transfer into KGH Form, filed in 8/8/08 Medical Summary (filed 8/14/08) at page 71  (described as “medical records of the employee’s stay at Ketchikan General Hospital, 168 pages”).


� 8/18/06 R.F. Crochelt, MD, History and Physical, filed in id. at page 51-52.


� Id.; see also 8/18/06 R.F. Crochelt, MD, Note on Follow-Up care, filed attached to 8/8/08 [Employer’s] Notice of Filing (filed 8/14/08) at page no. 72.


� 8/18/06 Laboratory test results, Wrangell Medical Center, SIME Medical Records Binder at pages 57-58.


� 8/22/06 R.F. Crochelt, MD, Operative Report, filed in SIME Medical Records Binder at pages 59-60.  For records of the 8/21/06 admission, see generally: SIME Medical Records Binder 59-62; 8/8/08 [Employer’s] Notice of Filing (filed 8/14/08) at pages 75-78, 81-90.


� 8/21/06 P. Swick, RN, Nurses Notes –OPS-PostOp, Ambulatory Surgery, KGH, filed attached to 8/8/08 [Employer’s] Notice of Filing (filed 8/14/08) at page no. 90.


� 8/21/06 [provider unidentified], Operative Nursing Record, filed attached to 8/8/08 [Employer’s] Notice of Filing (filed 8/14/08) at page no. 85.


� 8/21/06 T. Stall, RN, Perioperative Nursing Data Set, filed attached to 8/8/08 [Employer’s] Notice of Filing (filed 8/14/08) at page no. 88.


� See generally 8/22/06 R.F. Crochelt, MD, Operative Report, filed in SIME Medical Records Binder at pages 59-60.


� 8/24/06 [Unidentified RN], KGH Patient Post-op Follow Up, filed attached to 8/8/08 [Employer’s] Notice of Filing (filed 8/14/08) at page no. 92.


� 9/10/06 L. Prysunka, MD, TideLine Clinic, Letter to T. Lawrence, SIME Medical Records at page 68.


� 10/5/06 L. Prysunka, MD, TideLine Clinic, Chart note and Work Restriction Note, SIME Medical Records at pages 69-70.


� ALT is an abbreviation for a liver enzyme called alanine aminotransferase, which is “[a]n intracellular enzyme involved in amino acid and carbohydrate metabolism.  It is present in high concentrations in muscle, liver, and brain.  An increased level of this enzyme in the blood indicates necrosis or disease in these tissues.  Its measurement is most commonly used as part of the differential diagnosis of liver disease (e.g., hepatitis) and in the tracking of the course of the disease process.  This enzyme was formerly called serum glutamic pyruvic transaminase (SGPT) or glutamic-pyruvic transaminase.”  Taber’s Cyclopedic Medical Dictionary, at page 65 (20th Ed. 2005).


� AST is an abbreviation for a liver enzyme called aspartate aminotransferase, which is “[a]n intracellular enzyme involved in amino acid and carbohydrate metabolism.  It is present in high concentrations in muscle, liver, and brain.  An increased level of this enzyme in the blood indicates necrosis or disease in these tissues.  Formerly called serum glutamic-oxaloacetic transminase (SGOT) or glutamic-oxaloacetic transaminase.”  Taber’s Cyclopedic Medical Dictionary, at page 182 (20th Ed. 2005).


� Alkaline phosphatase is described as “an enzyme, present in the liver, kidneys, intestines, teeth, plasma, and developing bone.  Alkaline phosphatase levels greater than 300% of normal usually signify cholestatic disorders like obstructive jaundice or intrahepatic biliary disease.”  Taber’s Cyclopedic Medical Dictionary, at page 1660 (20th Ed. 2005).


� 10/10/06 [Unidentified provider], TideLine Clinic, Progress Notes, SIME Medical Records at page 71 (with notation, “Trans:DB”), reflecting attempt to contact the employee by phone with these laboratory test results.


� 10/26/06 L. Prysunka, MD, TideLine Clinic, Progress Note, and Work Release, SIME Medical Records at pages 72-73.


� 11/9/06 D.O. McCandless, MD, TideLine Clinic, Progress Notes and Physician’s Report, SIME Medical Records Binder at pages 76-78.  Laboratory test results are filed attached to 8/8/08 [Employer’s] Notice of Filing (filed 8/14/08) at page nos. 115-18. 


� 11/9/06 Laboratory Test Results, TideLine Clinic, filed attached to 8/8/08 [Employer’s] Notice of Filing (filed 8/14/08) at page nos. 116-17.  See also:  12/14/06 Laboratory – Cumulative Report, Wrangell Medical Center, filed in SIME Medical Records Binder at pages 132-33 (reporting under category of “blood chemistry” results from blood samples collected on 11/9/06).


� 11/13/06 D. O. McCandless, MD, TideLine Clinic, Progress Notes, SIME Medical Records Binder at pages 79-82.


� 11/16/06 Lab Test Report, SIME Medical Records Binder at page 87.


� 11/16/06 D. Aaron, MD, Southeast Surgical Clinic, Chart note, SIME Medical Records Binder at pages 85-86.


� 11/16/06 [Provider unidentified], Report of CT Scan of Abdomen/Pelvis with Contrast, SIME Medical Records Binder at page 88.


� 11/16/06 D. Aaron, MD, History and Physical, and D. Aaron, MD, response to Letter from K. Dean, ATIE, SIME Medical Records Binder at pages 89-91.


� 11/17/06 D. Aaron, MD, Operative Report, SIME Medical Records Binder at pages 92-93.


� 11/17/06 P. Swick, RN, Perioperative Documentation page 1, filed attached to 8/8/08 [Employer’s] Notice of Filing (filed 8/14/08) at page 60.


� 11/17/06 P. Swick, RN, Perioperative Documentation page 3, filed attached to 8/8/08 [Employer’s] Notice of Filing (filed 8/14/08) at page 62.


� See generally id.


� 12/1/06 M. Torreano, MD, Work Release, TideLine Clinic, SIME Medical Records Binder at page 99.


� 12/1/06 M. Torreano, MD, Chart note, TideLine Clinic, SIME Medical Records Binder at page 100.


� 12/4/06 M.A. Torreano, MD, Chart note, TideLine Clinic, SIME Medical Records at page 102.


� 12/5/06 [Dentist unidentified], Chart note, SIME Medical Records at page 34.


� 12/7/06 M.A. Torreano, MD, Progress Notes, TideLine Clinic, SIME Medical Records at page 109.


� 12/8/06 M.A. Torreano, MD, Admission History and Physical Examination, Wrangell Medical Center, SIME Medical Records at pages 104-05; see also 12/9/06 Wrangell Medical Center, Laboratory – Cumulative Report, SIME Medical Records at page 132.


� 12/16/06 E. Gonzales, MD, Report of Ultrasound Abdomen Complete, SIME Medical Records at page 123.


� 12/14/06 Wrangell Medical Center, Reference Lab Reports, SIME Medical Records at pages 135-136.


� 12/9/06 Quest Diagnostics, Inc., Laboratory Status Report Partial, SIME Medical Records at page 124.


� 12/11/06 TideLine Clinic, Laboratory Data – Hepatitis, filed attached to 8/8/08 [Employer’s] Notice of Filing (filed 8/14/08) at page nos. 109; 12/14/06 Quest Diagnostics, Inc., Laboratory Status Report Final, SIME Medical Records at page 149.


� 1/30/07 Quest Diagnostics, Inc., Final Report, and 2/10/07 W.H. Anthes, MD, Chart notes, Wrangell Clinic, SIME Medical Records at pages and 171.


� 12/24/06 M. A. Torreano, MD, Discharge Summary, Wrangell Medical Center, SIME Medical Records at pages 146-48


� Id., SIME Medical Records Binder at page 146; 12/22/06 and 1/25/07 M.A. Torreano, MD, Progress Notes, TideLine Clinic, SIME Medical Records at pages 156 and 163 [a duplicate of the 12/22/06 and 1/25/07 chart notes  are duplicated as Employer’s Exhibits B and C, attached to 7/2/09 Employer’s Hearing Brief (filed 7/6/09)]; 2/10/07 W.H. Anthes, MD, chart note, Wrangell Clinic, SIME Medical Records at page 171; 1/25/07 M.A. Torreano, MD, Progress Notes, TideLine Clinic, SIME Medical Records at page 163.


� 12/14/06 M.A. Torreano, MD, Progress Notes, TideLine Clinic, attached to 12/14/06 M.A. Torreano, Physician’s Report (filed 12/27/06); see also SIME Medical Records at page 152-53.


� 1/11/07 D.L. Aaron, MD, Chart Note and Work Release, SIME Medical Records at pages 156-57.


� 2/8/07 Anthes Clinic, Lab Test Result, SIME Medical Records at pages 169-70.


� 2/12/07 W.H. Anthes, MD, Chart note, SIME Medical Records at page 171; see also Employer’s Exhibit D attached to 7/2/09 Employer’s Hearing Br. (filed 7/6/09)..


� 1/8/08 F. X. Riedo, MD, EIME Report at pages 6-7  and 8/13/08 F.X. Riedo, MD, EIME Report at pages 2-3, SIME Medical Records at pages 185-86 and 192-93.  These reports are also filed as Employer’s Exhibits E and G, attached to 7/2/09 Employer’s Hearing Br. (filed 7/6/09). 


� Decision and Order No. 08-0052, at pages 13-15 (Mar. 21, 2008).


� 5/13/09 P. L. Steer, MD, FACP, SIME Report, pages 2-4, filed attached to 5/29/09 Medical Summary (filed 5/29/09); see also Employer’s Exhibit H attached to 7/2/09 Employer’s Hearing Br. (filed 7/6/09).


� 5/19/09 F.X. Riedo, MD, Letter to K. Dean, ATIE, filed attached to 5/29/09 Medical Summary (filed 5/29/09); see also Employer’s Exhibit I attached to 7/2/09 Employer’s Hearing Br. (filed 7/6/09).


� Employer’s Exhibit J, filed 7/14/09 attached to 7/2/09 Employer’s Hearing Br. (filed 7/6/09); see also KGH, Policies, Procedures and Protocols, attached to 8/8/08 [Employer’s] Notice of Filing (filed 8/14/08).


� 8/10/07 Claim.  The claim was originally received by the Division on August 7, 2007, unsigned, was returned to the employee for signature, he dated his signature August 10, 2007, and the claim was received and filed by the Division on August 15, 2007.  The claim originally stated an amount of medical benefits sought, but that figure was blacked out.


� 8/1/07 Request for Conference (filed 8/7/07).


� 8/21/07 Controversion Notice (filed 8/23/07).


� 8/20/07 Answer (filed 8/22/07).


� 1/16/08 Letter, R. Briggs, H.O., to T.A. Lawrence and K. Dean, ATIE.


� 5/13/09 P.L. Steer, MD, FACP, SIME Report to L. Gillespie, WCO.


� 4/27/09 Notice of Hearing (served 4/27/09); 6/11/09 PHC Summary, at page 2 (served 6/12/09).


� 2/13/08 Testimony of T.A. Lawrence.


� 2/13/08 Testimony of L.J. Lawrence.


� 2/13/08 Argument of K. Dean, ATIE.


� 2/13/08 Argument of T.A. Lawrence.


� 693 P.2de 859, 862 (Alaska 1985).


� Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996)(emphasis in original).


� Id.


� Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).


� Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987).


� Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316.


� Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-74 (Alaska 1991).


� Burgess Construction Co., 623 P.2d at 316.


� Cheeks, 742 P.2d at 244.


� Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, 92 P.3d 413, 417 (Alaska 2004). 


� Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).


� Id.


� Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Miller, 577 P.2d at 1046.


� Norcon,Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 880 P.2d 1051, 1054 (Alaska 1994) citing Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941 (Alaska 1992). 


� Norcon, 880 P.2d at 1054, citing Childs v. Copper Valley Elec. Ass’n, 860 P. 2d 1184, 1189 (Alaska 1993). 


� Id. at 1055.


� Norcon, 880 P.2d at 1054.


� Koons, 816 P.2d 1381(citing Miller, 577 P 2d. at 1046).


� Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).


� Moretz.v. O’Neill Investigations, 783 P.2d 764, 766 (Alaska 1989); Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669 (Alaska 1991).


� AS 23.30.095(a).


� Id.


� Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 664-665 (Alaska 1991).


� Delaney v. Alaska Airlines, 693 P. 2d 859, 862 (Alaska 1985).


� Hager v. Haskell Corp., Dec. Nos. 99-0185 (Sept. 3, 1999), 99-0165 (Aug. 5, 1999), 99-0128 (June 11, 1999); 99-0081 (Apr. 15, 1999), 98-0096 (Apr. 17, 1998)(allegation of contraction of HCV from employee of another contractor at remote man-camp at Cape Romanzof facility); Parish v. City of Seward Hosp. et al., AWCB Dec. Nos. 00-0035 (Mar. 2, 2000), 99-0240 (Nov. 24, 1999)(nurse, with allegation of contraction of HCV while employed either at nursing home, at hospital, or while working as nurse at State of Alaska prison facility); Seater v. Eric C. Simpson, DDS et al., AWCB Dec. Nos. 05-0064 (Mar. 2, 2005) and 04-0285 (Dec. 1, 2004)(dental hygienist, with allegation of contraction of HCV while employed by different dentist offices).


� Chesser v. Tire Distribution Systems, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 07-0345 (Nov. 16, 2007)(tire mechanic with back injury during training, infected with HCV from hospital bone grafts from cadavers sold by criminal enterprise to hospital); Chernikoff v. Stuart Anderson’s Restaurant, AWCB Dec. No. 99-0198 (Sept. 24, 1999) and 99-0060 (Mar. 17, 1999)(maintenance worker with back injury, allegation of infection with HCV during back surgery).


� In the Seater case, there was testimony before the board that administration to the employee of an immunoglobulin series was the equivalent of exchanging blood with 20 to 80 people, due to the concentration of blood products from multiple donors, at a time when HCV had not been identified as a virus and there was no commercially available method for testing blood products for it. 


� In the Chesser case, it was concluded that the employee received infected cadaver bone during back surgery; the cadaver bone was supplied by a criminal enterprise to the hospital without required screening.


� Source: SIME Medical Records, pages 42, 76, 104, 120 (body temp, using highest recorded temperature on each day), 132, 133 and 200 (AST, ALT, alk. phosphatase values).


� E.g., L. Tibor, E. Funk, MD, MPH, and M. Beller, MD, MPH, Hepatitis C: Clinical Features, and Natural History, Molecular Biology, etc., Sec. of Epidemiology, Div. of Pub. Health, DHSS, State of Alaska, 3 Epidemiology Bulletin No. 2 (5/20/99) at pages 1-2 (discussing elevated ALT as indicator of HCV infection), published at http: �HYPERLINK "http://www.epi.hss.state.ak.us"�www.epi.hss.state.ak.us� (printed and filed Mar. 17, 2008).


� Cf. Denner v. Wesleyen Nursing Home, AWCB Dec. No. 89-0109 (May 11, 1989), at pages 6-7 (in case of alleged work-acquired pneumonia (lung infection) and ear infection with serratia spp. of bacteria, in health care worker employed in nursing home, to be medically complex condition, with initial burden met by employee’s health care providers opining infection acquired at workplace; condition found compensable; medical benefits awarded). 


� See Employee’s Exhibit 1.


� 8/4/05 L. Prysunka, MD, TideLine Clinic, Progress Notes, SIME Medical Records at page 35.


� In light of Lavern Lawrence’s testimony about test results showing health liver function, we looked hard in the record for any indication of liver function tests prior to November 9, 2006.  We found only a single chart notation, by unidentified personnel in Dr. Prysunka’s office, of an attempt to contact the employee on “10/10/06” with results of “elevated liver functions and ALT & AST but not Alk. Phos.”  See Note 26, supra (citing SIME Medical Records at page 71).  However, we found no independent test reports for any blood tests or blood draws in October 2006, and we saw no reference to any October 2006 blood tests in any other chart notes or cumulative laboratory reports.  So we gave little weight to the single notation, made by an unidentified person, allegedly made on October 10, 2006.  We found no other reports of blood tests for ALT or AST levels for 2005, or any earlier years.  We noted that the employee certified that the medical record was “complete.”  4/16/09 T. Lawrence, “Affidavit” (letter) to P. Zobel and L. Gillespie (filed 4/20/09).    
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